RECEIVED

Mar 07 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court**

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS

**APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas**

DeAndrea Gist Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

**Supreme Court Case No. 2023-000452
Case No.: 2017-CP-40-03697**

Amanda Leigh Huskins and Jay R. Huskins..... Petitioners,

v.

Mungo Homes, LLCRespondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

**Charles H. McDonald [SC Bar # 11580]
Belser Law Firm, P.A.
Post Office Box 96
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
chuck@belserpa.com
(803) 999-1260**

**Matthew A. Nickles [SC Bar # 80364]
Rogers, Patrick, Westbrook & Brickman, LLC
1513 Hampton Street, 1st Floor

QUESTIONS PRESENTED ON CERTIORARI

1. In an adhesion contract for the purchase of a new home that lacks a severability clause, did the Court of Appeals err in severing an unconscionable, material term of the arbitration clause to save the remainder in contravention of established precedent established in *Smith v. D.R. Horton, Inc.*, and also err in relying on the Uniform Commercial Code Articles 2 (Sales) for authority to sever in this context?
2. In an adhesion contract for the purchase of a new home, did the Court of Appeals violate the common law and the public policy expressed under *Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, by severing unconscionable, material terms in an arbitration clause to enforce the remainder?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 14, 2017, Petitioners commenced this action by filing a Complaint in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas. (R. pp. 21-41.) The Complaint asserted several causes of action against the Respondent Mungo Homes, LLC (“Mungo”) regarding Mungo’s disclaimer of the warranty of habitability associated with its sale of property with a new residence thereon to Petitioners Amanda and Jay Huskins, without having separately bargained for the benefit of the disclaimer to it (“Mungo Contract”). The Complaint included causes of action for monetary and injunctive relief. (*Id.*) On July 17, 2017, Mungo filed a Motion to Dismiss and to Compel Arbitration. (R. pp. 68-74.) On March 13, 2018, the Circuit Court granted Mungo’s Motion to Dismiss based upon the existence of a contractual arbitration agreement (“Arbitration Clause”) and, on April 16, 2018, denied the Huskins’ Motion to Alter or Amend the Court’s Order by a Form 4 Order. (R. pp. 4-20.)

On May 11, 2018, Petitioners filed a Notice of Appeal. Oral arguments were heard before the Court of Appeals on May 5, 2021. The Court of Appeals issued its initial decision on June 1,

2022, affirming the ruling of the Circuit Court with modifications. The Court of Appeals found terms in the Arbitration Clause in the Mungo Contract unconscionable, one-sided, and oppressive. Even though there was no provision for severability, the Court of Appeals severed the unconscionable terms to save the remainder of and enforce the Arbitration Clause.

On June 15, 2022, Petitioners filed a Petition for Rehearing. During the pendency of the Petition, this Court issued its opinion in *Damico v. Lennar Carolinas*, 437 S.C. 596, 879 S.E.2d 746 (2022), where the court, in its discretion and as a matter of public policy, declined to exercise a severability provision in a contract of adhesion for the purchase of a new home, and sever unconscionable terms in an arbitration clause to save the remainder. Pursuant to Rule 208(b)(7), SCACR, Petitioners supplemented their petition by notifying the Court of Appeals of the *Lennar* opinion. On February 15, 2023, the Court of Appeals withdrew its prior opinion and issued a new opinion clarifying its decision to sever the unconscionable provisions contained in the Arbitration Clause and enforce the remainder to compel arbitration.

Petitioners sought a Writ of Certiorari to review the Court of Appeals' Opinion on March 17, 2023. The Petition argued that the Court of Appeals' Opinion conflicted with this Court's precedent in *Smith v. D.R. Horton, Inc.*, 417 S.C. 42, 790 S.E.2d 1 (2016). In *D.R. Horton*, the Court refused to sever unconscionable terms in an arbitration clause to save the remainder in a contract to purchase a new home because the contract lacked a severability provision. 417 S.C. at 50 n.6, 790 S.E.2d at 5 n.6. Petitioners also argued that the Court of Appeals' Opinion conflicted with this Court's precedent in *Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, refusing to exercise its discretion to sever unconscionable terms in an arbitration agreement, even though the contract provided for severability, where the unconscionable terms were material and set forth in a contract of adhesion in the homebuyer context. 437 S.C. at 624, 879 S.E.2d at 761. Finally, Petitioners argued that the

Court of Appeals’ reliance on and application of sections 36-2-302 and 15-3-140 of the South Carolina Code of Laws to sever unconscionable terms in an arbitration clause in a contract of adhesion for the purchase of real estate with a new home thereon that did not contain a provision for severability was clear error of law.

Respondent filed a Return, arguing that this matter did not raise any issue warranting further review under Rule 242(b), SCACR. Petitioners filed a Reply responding to the arguments made in the Return. This Court granted Petitioners’ Writ of Certiorari on February 7, 2024.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the merits, this case involves protecting the most fundamental warranty extended upon the sale of every new home in South Carolina—the warranty of habitability. Like many large, volume builders, Mungo takes advantage of its superior sophistication and bargaining power and disclaims the warranty of habitability within its new-residential-property purchase contract. (R. pp. 31-41.) Mungo’s Contract sells a “tract of land, together with the dwelling and improvement to be constructed thereon (the “Property”),” and disclaims the fundamental warranty of habitability associated with the dwelling thereon, without providing new-home buyers, like Petitioners Amanda and Jay Huskins, the opportunity to receive a separately bargained-for benefit for this disclaimer. (R. p. 32.)

Petitioners bring this action asserting Mungo’s conduct, disclaiming the warranty of habitability associated with the sale of a new home without specifically bargaining for such benefit

to it, is against the law and public policy of the State of South Carolina.¹ The Complaint asks the court to declare that, as a matter of law, Mungo cannot disclaim the implied warranty of habitability without providing its home buyers with adequate consideration specific to such waiver, and prays for a jury to determine the fair value of that waiver to which Mungo unjustly extracted for itself. (R. pp. 21-41.)

Procedurally, the Mungo Contract also requires new-home buyers to resolve all matters arising out of, or in any way related to, the contract through final and binding arbitration. To this end, the Mungo Contract contains a one-paragraph “Arbitration and Claims” provision (hereinafter “Arbitration Clause”) outlining the terms for final and binding arbitration.

The Arbitration Clause unconscionably limits the time for new-home buyers to seek relief for matters arising out of, or in any way related to, the Mungo Contract. The Arbitration Clause requires parties to make a written demand for arbitration within ninety days, and in some cases within thirty days, of the time in which any matter broadly associated with the Mungo Contract arises. Under South Carolina statutory law though, new-home buyers are afforded three years to assert any contractual claims.

At the top of the third page of the Mungo Contract, there is a provision for “Arbitration and Claims” as follows:

¹ *Kirkman v. Parex*, 369 S.C. 477, 485, 632 S.E.2d 854, 858 (2006) (ruling that the seller of a new home cannot effectively disclaim the implied warranty of habitability unless the disclaimer is “(1) conspicuous, (2) known to the buyer, and (3) specifically bargained for.” *See also Damico v. Lennar Carolinas*, 437 S.C. 596, 617, 879 S.E.2d 746, 758 (2022) (emphasis added in the original) (finding “absurd, factually incorrect, and grossly oppressive” term in homebuyer contract that attempted to assert home buyer “*expressly negotiated and bargain for the waiver of the implied warranty of habitability [for] valuable consideration . . . in the amount of \$0.*”



ARBITRATION AND CLAIMS

Any claim, dispute or other matter in question between the parties hereto arising out of this Agreement, related to this Agreement or the breach thereof, including without limitation, disputes relating to the Property, improvements, or the condition, construction or sale thereof and the deed to be delivered pursuant hereto, shall be resolved by final and binding arbitration before three (3) arbitrators, one selected by each party, who shall mutually select the third, pursuant to the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act. Arbitration shall be commenced by a written demand for arbitration to the other party specifying the issues for arbitration and designating the demanding parties selected arbitrator. Each and every demand for arbitration shall be made within ninety (90) days after the claim, dispute or other matter in question has arisen, except that any claim, dispute or matter in question arising from either party's termination of this Agreement shall be made within thirty (30) days of the written notice of termination. Any claim, dispute or other matter in question not asserted within said time periods shall be deemed waived and forever barred.

~~NON-RELIANCE X-ADW~~

(R. p. 33.) The Arbitration Clause is thus set forth in small uniform print and in a total of four sentences. The first sentence defines expansively the issues which must be resolved by final and binding arbitration, encompassing “any claim, dispute, or other matter in question between the parties arising out of this Agreement, related to this Agreement or breach thereof, including, without limitation, disputes relating to the Property, improvements, or the condition, construction or sale thereof and the deed to be delivered pursuant thereto.” The first sentence states that these issues “shall be resolved by final and binding arbitration.” (*Id.*)

The last three sentences of the Arbitration Clause then provide: “Arbitration shall be commenced by written demand for arbitration to the other party specifying the issues for arbitration and designated the demanding parties selected arbitrator.” (*Id.*) As to the written demand for arbitration, the Mungo Contract instructs home buyers: “Each and every demand for arbitration shall be made within ninety (90) days after the claim, dispute or other matter in question has arisen, except that any claim, dispute or matter in question arising from either party’s termination of this Agreement shall be made within thirty (30) days of the written notice of termination.” And, if there was any question about the strict time limitations placed on new-residential-real-estate buyers who may need to seek relief, the final sentence of the Arbitration Clause reads: “Any claim, dispute or other matter in question not asserted within said time periods shall be deemed waived and forever barred.” (*Id.*)

The Mungo Contract does not include any severability provision, which would normally state that the terms of the contract are independent of one another so that the rest of the contract will remain in force should a court declare one or more of its provisions void or unenforceable. The Mungo Contract also contains provisions titled, “Nonreliance” and “Miscellaneous,” explaining, albeit in different ways, that the Mungo Contract “embodies the entire Agreement between Seller and Purchaser with respect to the Property. No amendment or modification . . . shall be valid unless contained in writing executed by both parties.” (R. p. 30).

The Circuit Court determined that the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act governed this dispute because the Mungo Contract expressly provided for the same. (R. p. 9.) The Court of Appeals’ Opinion noted that application of the SCUAA, as opposed to the FAA, did not affect the analysis, as “even in cases where the FAA otherwise applies, general contract principles of state law apply in a court’s evaluation of the enforceability of an arbitration clause.” (R. p. 272 n.4 (citing *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 22 n.1, 644 S.E.2d 663, 667 n.1 (2007))).

The Court of Appeals disagreed with the circuit court’s analysis of the conscionability of the Arbitration Clause in the Mungo Contract. The Court of Appeals found the Arbitration Clause in the Mungo Contract unconscionable as written, particularly the terms requiring a party to demand in writing arbitration of any matter arising out of, or related in any way to, the Mungo Contract, within ninety days, and in some cases thirty days, of the date in which the matter arose. (R. pp. 274-75.) The Court of Appeals ruled that the Mungo Contract was one of adhesion. Appellants lacked any meaningful choice to agree to the Mungo Contract or to the Arbitration Clause in the Mungo Contract. Appellants were “average purchasers of residential real estate, were not represented by independent counsel, and were not a substantial business concern to Mungo such that they possessed more bargaining power than any other average homebuyer would.” (R. p. 274.)

The Court of Appeals ruled the final two sentences of the Arbitration Clause were materially one-sided and oppressive, violating sections 15-3-140 and -530 of the South Carolina Code of Laws' three-year statute of limitations. The terms "disproportionately affected a homebuyer's ability to bring a claim" and were "not geared towards achieving an unbiased decision by a neutral decision maker." (R. pp. 274-75 (internal quotation marks omitted).)

Rather than considering the one-paragraph Arbitration Clause unconscionable in its entirety though and despite the absence of a severability provision, the Court of Appeals determined that it had the authority to, and would properly exercise discretion to, blue-pencil the materially unconscionable terms, severing two out of four sentences. The Court of Appeals saved and enforced the first two sentences of the Arbitration Clause, claiming that those two sentences manifested and left intact the parties' agreement to arbitrate, without affecting the basis of the bargain. (R. p. 276.) For the authority to do so, the Court of Appeals relied on section 36-2-302(1) of the South Carolina Code of Laws relating to contracts concerning commercial goods and sales falling under the Uniform Commercial Code. The Court of Appeals stated, "Although title 36 concern commercial goods and sales, . . . our supreme court recently cited section 36-2-302 for the proposition that unconscionable provisions could be severed in the residential home agreement context." (R. p. 276 (citing *Lennar*, 437 S.C. at 618, 879 S.E.2d at 758). The Court of Appeals then affirmed the trial court's decision to compel arbitration as modified. (R. pp. 275-76 & nn. 5 & 6.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether a claim is subject to arbitration is subject to *de novo* review. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). "Arbitration clauses are separable from the contracts in which they are embedded." *Hous. Auth. of Columbia v. Cornerstone Hous., LLC*, 356 S.C. 328,

338, 588 S.E.2d 617, 622 (Ct. App. 2003) (internal quotation marks omitted). “[C]ourts may only consider the provisions of the arbitration agreement itself, and not those of the whole contract.” *Lennar*, 437 S.C. at 608, 879 S.E.2d at 753 (internal quotation marks omitted); *see also generally Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conlin Mfg. Co.*, 388 U.S. 395, 403-06, 87 S. Ct. 1801, 18 L.Ed.2d 1270 (1967).

Ordinary state law principles governing the formation of contracts, including principles concerning the “validity, revocability, or enforceability of contracts generally,” are applied to arbitration agreements. *Hill v. Peoplesoft USA, Inc.*, 412 F.3d 540, 543 (4th Cir. 2005) (quoting *Perry v. Thomas*, 482 U.S. 483, 493 n.9, 107 S. Ct. 2520, 96 L. Ed. 2d 426 (1987)). A court may invalidate an arbitration clause based on South Carolina’s defense of unconscionability to contracts. *Doe v. TCSC, LLC*, 430 S.C. 602, 612, 846 S.E.2d 874, 879 (Ct. App. 2020). The conscionability of an arbitration clause must “focus generally on whether the arbitration clause is geared towards achieving an unbiased decision by a neutral decision-maker.” *Simpson*, 373 S.C. at 25, 644 S.E.2d at 668. Hallmarks of unconscionability are the absence of meaningful choice on the part of one party due to the one-sided provisions, together with terms that are so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them and no fair and honest person would accept them. *Carolina Care Plan, Inc. v. United HealthCare Servs., Inc.*, 361 S.C. 544, 554, 606 S.E.2d 752, 757 (2004).

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals’ Opinion directly conflicts with this Court’s ruling in *Smith v. D.R. Horton, Inc.*, where the Court refused to sever unconscionable terms from an alleged agreement to arbitrate in a contract of adhesion involving the purchase of a new home when the contract lacked a severability provision. The Court of Appeals’ Opinion also conflicts with this Court’s ruling in

Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC, where the Court refused to enforce a severability clause against unconscionable terms set forth in an arbitration clause to save the remainder, when the contract was one of adhesion involving the purchase of a new home pursuant to South Carolina common law and public policy. Finally, the Court of Appeals erroneously relied on section 36-2-302(1) of the South Carolina Code of Laws, applicable to the sale of goods under the South Carolina Uniform Commercial Code, to afford itself the authority to sever. However, this case involves the sale of a new home affixed to real estate and therefore is outside the scope of section 36-2-302(1).

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN SEVERING UNCONSCIONABLE, MATERIAL TERMS OF AN ARBITRATION CLAUSE TO SAVE THE REMAINDER WHERE THE CONTRACT LACKED A SEVERABILITY PROVISION AND WAS A CONTRACT OF ADHESION WITH A NEW-HOME BUYER.

Petitioners bring this appeal of the Court of Appeals' Opinion severing unconscionable, material sentences set forth in an arbitration clause to save and enforce the remainder, in the narrow context of adhesion contracts involving new-home buyers and where there is no provision for severability.

As the Court of Appeals found, the Mungo Contract and Arbitration Clause was a take-it-or-leave-it proposal, where Petitioners, the Huskins, had no meaningful choice as to its terms, and therefore did not truly agree to it. Petitioners are "average purchasers of residential real estate, were not represented by independent counsel, and were not a substantial business concern to Mungo such that they possessed more bargaining power than any other average homebuyer would." (R. p. 274.)

Mungo, the sophisticated party and drafter of the Mungo Contract, included oppressive and one-sided terms in the Arbitration Clause set forth in the Mungo Contract that were not designed to achieve an unbiased decision by a neutral decision maker, and, at the same time, left out any

provision for severability. The final two sentences of the Arbitration Clause limited the time in which Petitioners could bring any matter arising out of, or related in any way to, the Mungo Contract to ninety days, and in some cases thirty days, violating sections 15-3-530 of the South Carolina Code of Laws' three-year statute of limitations applicable to contract actions. As the Court of Appeals found, these terms "disproportionately affect a homebuyer's ability to bring a claim," and were "not geared towards achieving an unbiased decision by a neutral decision maker." (R. pp. 274-75 (internal quotation marks omitted).)

Notwithstanding these findings in the context of a contract of adhesion for the purchase of a new home, the Court of Appeals determined that it "could simply delete the offending language without affecting the basis of the parties' bargain or rewriting their agreement." (R. p. 276.) The Court of Appeals' Opinion contravenes this Court's precedent in *D.R. Horton* and *Lennar*, was erroneously divorced from its findings that the Mungo Contract was one of adhesion involving innocent new-home buyers, and incorrectly concluded that the final two materially unconscionable sentences of the Arbitration Clause could simply be severed without rewriting the parties' agreement. The Court of Appeals' reliance on section 36-2-302(1), as providing it authority and discretion to sever in this instance, is entirely misplaced.

A. IN *SMITH V. D.R. HORTON*, THE COURT SPECIFICALLY REFUSED TO SEVER UNCONSCIONABLE TERMS TO SAVE THE REMAINDER OF AN ARBITRATION CLAUSE IN A CONTRACT OF ADHESION INVOLVING A NEW-HOME BUYER BECAUSE THE CONTRACT LACKED A SEVERABILITY PROVISION.

In *Smith v. D.R. Horton*, this Court refused to consider severing unconscionable provisions from an arbitration clause in the absence of a specific severability clause. 417 S.C. at 50 n.6, 790 S.E.2d at 5 n.6. This Court gave the following sound reasoning for such refusal:

Because the arbitration agreement does not contain a severability clause, we find the parties did not intend for the Court to strike

unconscionable provisions from the arbitration agreement. Thus, we decline to analyze whether the unconscionable provisions are severable, as doing so would be the result of the Court rewriting the parties' contract rather than enforcing their stated intentions.

Id.; *cf. also Lennar*, 437 S.C. at 619, 879 S.E.2d at 758 (“In exercising . . . discretion, courts should be guided by the parties’ intent.”); *Palmetto Constr. Grp., LLC v. Restoration Specialists, LLC*, 432 S.C. 633, 639, 856 S.E.2d 150, 153 (2021) (“There is . . . no public policy—federal or state—favoring arbitration. The courts must respect and enforce a contractual provision to arbitrate as it respects and enforces all contractual provisions. . . . The Court is but the instrument through which . . . effect can be given to the [parties’] will.”). Just as in *D.R. Horton*, there is no severability clause in the Mungo Contract, either in the contract itself or the Arbitration Clause. It was an error of law therefore for the Court of Appeals to even consider severing the unconscionable terms drafted by Mungo in the one-paragraph Arbitration Clause.

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