THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Apr 08 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
DeAndrea Gist Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000452
Circuit Court Case No.: 2017-CP-40-03697

Amanda Leigh Huskins and Jay R. Huskins,

Appellants,

v.

Mungo Homes, LLC,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

Steven R. Kropski, Esq. (SC Bar 101441)
Earhart Overstreet LLC
P.O. Box 22528
Charleston, SC 29413

Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the final two sentences of the Arbitration Agreement can be severed, while leaving in-tact the remainder of the Arbitration Agreement.

It is well established that where a contract contains a separate and isolated arbitration agreement, the arbitration agreement is read in isolation of the remainder of the Contract. Only

the arbitration agreement itself is to be analyzed by a court, with all other issues, including the conscionability of the remainder of the Contract, to be decided by the arbitrator.

“An arbitration clause's validity is distinct from the substantive validity of the contract as a whole.” *Housing Auth. of the City of Columbia v. Cornerstone Housing.*, 356 S.C. 328, 338, 588 S.E.2d 617, 622 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 540, 542 S.E.2d 360, 364 (2001)); see also *Parsons v. John Weiland Homes and Neighborhoods of the Carolinas*, 418 S.C. 1, 12, 791 S.E.2d 128 (2016)(“Arbitration clauses are separable from the contracts in which they are imbedded”). “Even if the overall contract is unenforceable, the arbitration provision is not unenforceable unless the reason the overall contract is unenforceable specifically relates to the arbitration provision.” *Cornerstone Housing.*, 356 S.C. at 340, 588 S.E.2d at 623.

Here the Arbitration Agreement is separate and distinct from the remainder of the Contract, and the Court of Appeals correctly analyzed only the Arbitration Agreement itself to assess the conscionability of the Arbitration Agreement.

When reading the Arbitration Agreement, the Court of Appeals determined that the final two sentences were an unconscionable effort to reduce the statute of limitation to bring a claim.

The full Arbitration Agreement reads as follows:

Any claim, dispute or other matter in question between the parties hereto arising out of this Agreement, related to this Agreement or the breach thereof, including without limitation, disputes relating to the Property, improvements, or condition, construction or sale thereof and the deed to be delivered pursuant hereto, shall be resolved by final and binding arbitration before three (3) arbitrators, one selected by each party, who shall mutually select the third, pursuant to the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act. Arbitration shall be commenced by a written demand for arbitration to the other party specifying the issues for arbitration and designating the demanding parties selected arbitrator. **Each and every demand for arbitration shall be made within ninety (90) days after the claim,**

dispute or other matter in question has arisen, except that any claim, dispute, or matter in question arising from either party's termination of this Agreement shall be made within thirty (30) days of the written notice of termination. Any claim, dispute or other matter in question not asserted within said time periods shall be deemed waived and forever barred.

(R. p. 30) (emphasis added to sentences deemed unconscionable).

However, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that if the final two sentences of the Arbitration Agreement were struck, the first two sentences still created a complete and mutual arbitration provision. After striking the final two-sentences, the Arbitration Agreement reads as follows:

Any claim, dispute or other matter in question between the parties hereto arising out of this Agreement, related to this Agreement or the breach thereof, including without limitation, disputes relating to the Property, improvements, or condition, construction or sale thereof and the deed to be delivered pursuant hereto, shall be resolved by final and binding arbitration before three (3) arbitrators, one selected by each party, who shall mutually select the third, pursuant to the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act. Arbitration shall be commenced by a written demand for arbitration to the other party specifying the issues for arbitration and designating the demanding parties selected arbitrator.

(R. p. 30).

By severing the final two sentences of the Arbitration Agreement, the remainder of the Arbitration Agreement is not affected in any manner, and the remainder of the Arbitration Agreement unequivocally provides for an unbiased decision by neutral decision makers, applies mutually to both parties, and does not limit the remedies available by law.

In other words, there was no dispute that the parties to the Contract intended to resolve all disputes through mutual and binding arbitration. The Petitioners initialed directly below the Arbitration Agreement, and the first page of the Contract contains a disclaimer stating “THIS

AGREEMENT IS SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE 15-48-10 et seq.”

(R. p. 28). Thus, by striking the provisions deemed unconscionable, the intent of the parties to arbitrate disputes was honored.

The Court of Appeals decision is correct and consistent with this Court’s precedent, and the precedent of the United States Supreme Court.

In prior cases, including those cited by Appellants, Courts have recognized the inherent right of a Court to sever unconscionable terms in an arbitration agreement, provided that after severing such terms there remained a complete and unfragmented arbitration agreement¹. *Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, 437 S.C. 596, 618-619, 879 S.E.2d 746, 758-760 (2022); *One Belle Hall Prop. Owners Ass’n v. Trammell Crow Residential Co.*, 418 S.C. 51, 63-64, 791 S.E.2d. 286, 293 (Ct. App. 2016); *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 33-34, 644 S.E.2d 663, 673 (2007)(declining to sever unconscionable terms of an arbitration agreement because only a disintegrated fragment of the agreement would remain).

In *Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, this Court explained:

If a court finds a contract clause unconscionable, the court may refuse to enforce the contract clause, **or it may limit the application of the unconscionable clause so as to avoid any possible unconscionable result**. However, severability is not always appropriate to remedy unconscionable contractual provisions. In particular, courts are reluctant to sever the unconscionable provisions when illegality pervades the entire agreement "such that

¹ Petitioners rely on a footnote in *Smith v. D.R. Horton*, 417 S.C. 42, 790 S.E.2d 1 (2016) to suggest that absent an express severability clause, a single unconscionable term in an agreement serves to rescind the entire agreement. This argument is impractical in every respect. For instance, in this case, the Petitioners seek monetary compensation for what Petitioners deem was an unconscionable waiver of certain plied warranties. Petitioners do not seek compensation for any type of construction defect or a breach of warranty. Thus, under Petitioner’s argument in this appeal, if the subject waiver of implied warranties is indeed unconscionable, rather than receiving money from Mungo, the entire Contract would be rescinded, and Petitioners would be required to return the home they have owned, and presumably occupied, for nine (9) years. This argument is also rejected by this Court’s decision in *Damico*, 437 S.C. at 618, 879 S.E.2d at 758.

only a disintegrated fragment would remain after hacking away the unenforceable parts." In those cases, judicial severing "look[s] more like rewriting the contract than fulfilling the intent of the parties."

Thus, "[c]ourts have discretion [] to decide whether a contract is so infected with unconscionability that it must be scrapped entirely, or to sever the offending terms so the remainder may survive." In exercising their discretion, courts should be guided by the parties' intent.

Damico 437 S.C. at 618-619, 879 S.E.2d at 758-760 (2022) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added), *See also* 17A Am. Jur. 2d *Contracts* § 273 ("[t]o assess whether unconscionable terms can be severed from a contract or whether the entire contract should be invalidated, a court considers whether the illegality is central or collateral to the purpose of the contract.").

As the Court of Appeals expressly found, it's decision is consistent with *Damico*. (Appx. p. 276). In *Damico*, this Court held that the arbitration provision in that agreement, declaring the persons or entities that were even allowed to be named in an arbitration proceeding, was a material term of the agreement, and had "implications that may substantially affect the substantive outcome of the resolution." *Id.* at 619-620. This Court then held "[w]ere we to sever such a clause from the arbitration agreement here, it would be the opposite of excising an 'ancillary or logistical concern.' Rather, we would be materially rewriting the contract by controlling who will-or will not-participate in arbitration...Succinctly stated, once we sever the unconscionable terms in the arbitration provision, there is essentially nothing left." *Id.* at 619-20.

Here, no such concerns exist. Indeed, striking the last two sentences of the Arbitration Agreement has no bearing on the substantive outcome of an arbitration proceeding. Similarly, contrary to Appellants' assertion, no "blue penciling" (i.e., rewriting) of the Arbitration Agreement is necessary nor was any such blue-penciling done by the Court of Appeals. The express terms of

the parties' intent to arbitrate are left wholly in-tact, even when severing the final two sentences, which applied only to the ancillary concern of the time in which a claim can be brought².

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that severing the final two sentences of the Arbitration Agreement left the remaining provisions as a complete, mutual, and enforceable arbitration agreement and its decision should be affirmed.

II. Declining to sever the final two sentences of the Arbitration Agreement pursuant to S.C. Code § 15-3-140 would result in arbitration agreements being placed on uneven footing with other contracts in South Carolina, which directly violates the United States Supreme Court's decision in *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion*, 563 U.S. 333, 341, 131 S.Ct. 1740, 1747 (2011)

In its decision, the Court of Appeals held that S.C. Code §15-3-140 instructs that any attempt to reduce the statute of limitations by contract must be ignored, and is in practice, severed from *any* agreement in South Carolina by statute. S.C. Code §15-3-140 states:

No clause, provision or agreement in any contract of whatsoever nature, verbal or written, whereby it is agreed that either party shall be barred from bringing suit upon any cause of action arising out of the contract if not brought within a period less than the time prescribed by the statute of limitations, for similar causes of action, shall bar such action, but the action may be brought notwithstanding such clause, provision or agreement if brought within the time prescribed by the statute of limitations in reference to like causes of action.

S.C. Code §15-3-140. In other words, a contractual provision purporting to shorten the statute of limitations is void *ab initio*. Thus, it is treated as if it was never part of the Contract.

² Respondent notes, as detailed in Section II, that S.C. Code § 15-3-140 mandates that any attempt to shorten a statute of limitation by a contractual provision shall be ignored entirely, and void *ab initio*. Thus, the Court of Appeals simply did what the South Carolina Code mandates be done to every contract in the State of South Carolina.

Petitioner argues that despite this statute, any such provision can still serve to deem an entire agreement unconscionable. Petitioners' argument, however, would render S.C. Code §15-3-140 unnecessary and inapplicable in any circumstance.

Indeed, if the Legislature intended for a provision attempting to reduce the statute of limitations to render an entire agreement rescinded as unconscionable, the Legislature would have stated as much. The Legislature did not do so. Moreover, if an attempt to reduce the statute of limitations in a contract invalidated the contract in its entirety, there would be no need for the statute, as no enforceable contract would exist on which a party could sue.

Rather, consistent with the Court of Appeals decision, S.C. Code §15-3-140 instructs that an attempt to reduce the statute of limitations should be disregarded and the remainder of the contract shall be enforced according to its terms. To arrive at any other conclusion would contradict the United States Supreme Court's decision in *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion*, 563 U.S. 333, 341, 131 S.Ct. 1740, 1747 (2011) (holding that a State's law cannot place arbitration agreements on unequal grounds with all other contracts in the State); *see also Parsons*, 418 S.C. at 9-10, 791 S.E.2d at 132 (recognizing the applicability of *Concepcion* to new home build contracts in South Carolina)³.

Petitioners, however, seek to create a carve out to S.C. Code §15-3-140 solely applicable to arbitration agreements in a new build home contracts. Such a result would inherently put arbitration agreements on unequal grounds with other contracts in South Carolina, impermissibly rejecting *Concepcion*, and abrogating *Parsons*. *See Parsons*, 418 S.C. at fn. 6, 791 S.E. 2d at fn.

³ While Petitioners' initially disputed that this matter falls within the Federal Arbitration Act, there is no question that a contract to build and purchase a new home involves interstate commerce. *Cape Romain Contrs., Inc. v. Wando E., LLC*, 405 S.C. 115, 747 S.E.2d 461 (2013); *Bradley v. Brentwood Homes, Inc.*, 398 S.C. 447, 458 n.8, 730 S.E.2d 312, 318 n.8 (2012) ("[O]ur appellate courts have consistently recognized that contracts for construction are governed by the FAA[.]").

6 (clarifying that a presumption of unequal bargaining power in new home construction contracts is not applicable to arbitration agreements, as an arbitration agreement is separate and distinct from a new home construction contract and has no connection to the actual sale, purchase or build of a home.).

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that S.C. Code §15-3-140 requires that a provision in an arbitration agreement attempting to reduce the statute of limitation must be severed as if it never existed. Once severed, the Arbitration Agreement in this case has no unconscionable terms and is therefore enforceable.

In summary, Petitioners failed to identify facts showing that they will not be able to assert their claims in an unbiased arbitration before unbiased arbitrators. Given South Carolina's presumption in favor of arbitrability when the parties intent to arbitrate is clear and unambiguous in the contract, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed, as modified, the Circuit Court's decision compelling arbitration. *See, Landers* 402 S.C. at 109, 739 S.E.2d at 213 quoting *Am. Recovery Corp.*, 96 F.3d at 94 (quoting *Peoples Sec. Life Ins. Co. v. Monumental Life Ins. Co.*, 867 F.2d 809, 812 (4th Cir. 1989)).

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, this Court should affirm the decision of the Court of Appeals and compel the parties to arbitrate this dispute as they agreed to do in the Contract.



Steven R. Kropki
Earhart Overstreet, LLC
P.O. Box 22528
(843) 972-9400

Attorney for Respondent Mungo Homes, LLC